

Boosting Your Immunity



Boost your immunity and stay healthy

Improve your overall health and combat disease

Bounce back when your immunity is compromised

Dr. Wendy Warner

ABIHM, Board Certified Holistic Medicine

Dr. Kellyann Petrucci

Board Certified Holistic Naturopathic Physician, coauthor of *Living Paleo For Dummies*





Boosting Your Immunity

by Dr. Wendy Warner and Dr. Kellyann Petrucci



Boosting Your Immunity For Dummies®

Published by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 111 River St. Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774 www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2020 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748–6011, fax (201) 748–6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, the Wiley logo, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, A Reference for the Rest of Us!, The Dummies Way, Dummies Daily, The Fun and Easy Way, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., and/or its affiliates in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK ARE INTENDED TO FURTHER GENERAL SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH, UNDERSTANDING, AND DISCUSSION ONLY AND ARE NOT INTENDED AND SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON AS RECOMMENDING OR PROMOTING A SPECIFIC METHOD, DIAGNOSIS, OR TREATMENT BY PHYSICIANS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PATIENT. THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. IN VIEW OF ONGOING RESEARCH, EQUIPMENT MODIFICATIONS, CHANGES IN GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS, AND THE CONSTANT FLOW OF INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF MEDICINES, EQUIPMENT, AND DEVICES, THE READER IS URGED TO REVIEW AND EVALUATE THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THE PACKAGE INSERT OR INSTRUCTIONS FOR EACH MEDICINE, EQUIPMENT, OR DEVICE FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ANY CHANGES IN THE INSTRUCTIONS OR INDICATION OF USAGE AND FOR ADDED WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS, READERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH A SPECIALIST WHERE APPROPRIATE. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY ANY PROMOTIONAL STATEMENTS FOR THIS WORK. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002.

For technical support, please visit www.wiley.com/techsupport.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2020945175

ISBN 978-1-119-74012-4 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-119-74013-1 (ebk); ISBN 978-1-119-74014-8 (ebk)

Manufactured in the United States of America

Contents at a Glance

Introduction
Part 1: Getting to Know Your Immune System
Part 2: What Happens When Your Immune
System Gets Off Track 39
CHAPTER 3: Strengthening Your Allergy Defense System
CHAPTER 4: Autoimmune Disorders: Dealing with an Overactive
Immune System
CHAPTER 6: Immunodeficiency Disorders: When the Immune
System Slows Down
CHAPTER 7: Uncovering the Influence of Immunity in Other Conditions109
Part 3: Laying the Groundwork for Super
Immunity: Nutrition, Lifestyle, and Detox
CHAPTER 8: Improving Your Immunity with Nutrition
CHAPTER 9: Tapping the Immune Properties of Superfoods
CHAPTER 10: Getting an Extra Kick from Supplements and Herbs
CHAPTER 11: Living an Immunity-Friendly Lifestyle
CHAPTER 12: Exploring Detoxification to Refresh Your Immunity
Part 4: Cooking Up Recipes for Immunity
and Wellness225
CHAPTER 13: Planning and Stocking an Immunity-Friendly Kitchen
CHAPTER 14: Breakfasts to Start Your Day in a Healthy Way24
CHAPTER 15: Lunches for a Midday Energy Burst25
CHAPTER 16: Dinners and Side Dishes to Strengthen Your System25
CHAPTER 17: Soups, Salads, and Sauces for Deep Healing and Cleansing 275
CHAPTER 18: Desserts and Snacks to Keep You on Track
CHAPTER 19: Tonifying Teas and Sensational Smoothies
Part 5: The Part of Tens 31
CHAPTER 20: Ten Tips to Avoid Colds and Flu
CHAPTER 21: Ten Breathing Exercises for a Better Immune System32

CHAPTER 22: Ten Boosting Exercises You Can Do Anywhere	331
CHAPTER 23: Ten Ways to Get Your Family on the Immunity Bandwagon	341
Appendix: Metric Conversion Guide	351
Index	355

Recipes at a Glance

	245
Egg Crumble with Sausage and Tomato	246
Primal Breakfast Casserole	247
Omelet Muffins	248
Spinach-Filled Deviled Eggs	249
Chicken Club Wrap	253
Stuffed Bell Peppers	254
Butter Lettuce Wraps	255
Chocolate Chili	256
Tex-Mex Scotch Eggs	257
Easy Skillet Shrimp and Kale	261
Grilled Spiced Halibut	262
Stuffed Spicy Eggplant	263
Slow Cooker Italian Gravy	264
Easy Slow Cooker Roasted Chicken	265
Moroccan Salmon	266
Ginger-Lime Grilled Shrimp	267
Meatza Pie	268
Mashed Cauliflower	269
♂ Greek Broccoli	270
	271
♂ Creamy Cucumbers	
♂ Simple Cooked Greens with Fruit	273
Chicken Vegetable Soup	278
	279
♂ Coconut Cilantro Soup	280
	281
♥ Purple Slaw Salad	282
♂ Tuscan Spinach Salad with Egg, Olive, and Avocado	283
♂ Sautéed Mushroom Salad	284
♂ Creamy Nut Sauce	285
♂ Best Stir-Fry Sauce Ever	286
♂ Olive Oil Mayo	287
♂ Creamy Italian Dressing	288
♂ Chocolate Chip Cookies	291
♡ No-Bake Almond Butter Ball Cookies	292
ூ John's Banana Whips	293

Caramelized Coconut Chips	294
	295
	296
S Jicama Sticks with a Kick	297
Meat and Spinach Muffins	298
Sesame-Garlic Nori Chips	299
Creamy Turmeric Tea	303
Mulled Cider	304
↑ "The Dr. Oz Show" Special Smoothie	305
⊗ Kombucha	306
	308
≪ Kefir Smoothie	309
Protein-Packed Morning Smoothie	311

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
About This Book	1
Conventions Used in This Book	2
What You're Not to Read	
Foolish Assumptions	
How This Book Is Organized	
Part 1: Getting to Know Your Immune System	4
Part 2: What Happens When Your Immune System Gets Off Track	4
Part 3: Laying the Groundwork for Super Immunity: Nutrition, Lifestyle, and Detox	5
Part 4: Cooking Up Recipes for Immunity and Wellness	5
Part 5: The Part of Tens	
Icons Used in This Book	
Where to Go from Here	6
PART 1: GETTING TO KNOW YOUR IMMUNE SYSTEM	7
CHAPTER 1: Immunity: Your Ticket to a Stronger,	
Longer, and Healthier Life	9
Super Immunity 101	10
Starting with your immune system	
Boosting your immunity with nutritional excellence	
Considering super immunity and modern medicine	
Living Longer, Stronger, and Healthier	
Focusing on healthy cells	
Choosing health	
Boosting Your Immunity to Look and Feel Amazing	
Looking younger	
Increasing vitality	
Getting a good night's sleep	17
Clearing up skin and digestive issues	18
CHAPTER 2: Understanding the Parts and Functions	
of Your Immune System	21
Introducing the Key Players: Your Immune Organs	22
Bone marrow	
Thymus	
Spleen	
Lymph nodes	
How they work together	24

	Meeting More Players: All the Different Cell Types	
	Phagocytes	
	Lymphocytes	
	How they work together Tracking How the Immune System Really Works	
	Establishing surface barriers and mucosal immunity	
	Accepting normal flora	
	Complement system	
	Relying on innate immune response	
	Acquired immune response	
	Considering Vaccinations and How They Work	
	Teaching your immune system to remember and fight	
	Weighing pros and cons of vaccination	
	Making an informed decision about flu shots	
DADT	D. WILLS HARDENIC WILLEN VOLLD	
	2: WHAT HAPPENS WHEN YOUR	
IMMU	NE SYSTEM GETS OFF TRACK	39
CHAPTER 3:	Strengthening Your Allergy Defense System	41
	Battling Sneezes, Sniffles, and Itchy Eyes	
	Getting to the root of the allergic reaction	
	Pinpointing causes of allergic rhinitis	
	Diagnosing allergic rhinitis	44
	Using conventional medicine treatment for allergies	
	Choosing natural medicine treatment for allergies	
	Catching Your Breath Again: Asthma	
	Diagnosing asthma	
	Using conventional medical treatment for asthma	
	Choosing natural medicine treatments for asthma	
	Soothing Scaly, Itchy Skin: Eczema	
	Diagnosing eczema	
	Using conventional medical treatment for eczema	
	Choosing natural medical treatment for eczema Distinguishing between Food Allergies and Food Sensitivities	
	Immediate/Acute food allergies	
	Delayed food-allergy reactions and food sensitivities	
	, 3,	
CHAPTER 4:	Autoimmune Disorders: Dealing with an	
	Overactive Immune System	57
	Getting to the Root of a Confused Immune System	58
	Uncovering a genetic predisposition	
	Weighing the impact of gender	
	Factoring in the environment	
	Rlaming immune dysregulation: Imbalance of Th1 and Th2	60

	Contributing Factors Essential to the Autoimmune System	60
	NF-kB	
	Inflammatory cytokines	61
	Free radicals	61
	Cortisol and the stress response	62
	5-MTHF	62
	Pinpointing Dietary Influences on Autoimmune Conditions	
	Lower arachidonic acid	
	Higher omega-3 intake	63
	Vitamin D	
	Gluten	64
	What Do You Mean My Gut Is Involved?	
	Developing increased gut permeability and antibody	
	formation	65
	Fixing your gut to fix your immune system	66
	Estrogen: A Hormone, a Helper, and a Potential Time Bomb	68
	Influencing estrogen breakdown products	68
	Processing chemicals and estrogens in the liver	69
	Modifying liver activity and the amount of estrogen	
	to process	
	Mercury and How It Wreaks Havoc on the Immune System	
	Scaling back on mercury-heavy fish	
	Dealing with mercury in dental work	
	Testing for mercury toxicity	72
	Nutrigenomics: Using Food Nutrients to Modify	
	Autoimmunity Specifically	
	Caffeine	
	Hops-derived compounds	
	Omega-3 fatty acids	
	Curcumin and rosemary	
	Selenium and zinc	
	Vitamin D	
	Considering Specific Autoimmune Conditions	
	Rheumatoid arthritis	
	Autoimmune thyroiditis	76
	Cancer: When the Immune System	
CHAPTER 5:	Cancer: When the Immune System	
	Takes a Vacation	81
	Understanding the Changes in Cells that Lead to Cancer	
	Tracking dangerous cell mutations	82
	Skipping apoptosis: Planned cell death and	_
	how it relates to cancer	
	Weeding out cancer cells	83
	Realizing that even a good immune system	
	can't always keep up	84

	Reducing Your Chances of Recurrence after	
	Chemotherapy or Radiation	84
	Making dietary interventions specific to cancer	85
	Managing stress: Cortisol and cancer prevention	
	Cleaning up your environment	88
	Taking Supplements Post-Treatment: Possible	
	Drug Interactions	
	Omega-3 fatty acids	90
	Probiotics	90
	Vitamin D3	90
	Vitamin C	90
	Calcium and magnesium	91
	Zinc and selenium	91
	Aloe vera	91
	Astragalus	91
	Cat's-claw	92
	Echinacea	92
	Ginseng	92
	Nettle	
	St John's wort	92
	Viewing Cancer Treatments from around the World	93
	Traditional Chinese medicine	93
	Ayurveda	95
CHAPTER 6:	Immunodeficiency Disorders: When the	
CHAPTER 6:	Immunodeficiency Disorders: When the Immune System Slows Down	
CHAPTER 6:		97
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down	97
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down	97 98
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes	97 98 98
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down. Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes	97989899
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency	97 98 99 100
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis	979899100101
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins.	979899100101101
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders.	979899100101101102
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins Testing for inherited deficiencies	979899100101102102
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency Diagnosing acquired deficiencies	979899100101102102
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins. Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders. Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency Diagnosing acquired deficiencies Treating Inherited and Acquired Immunodeficiency Conditions	979899100101102102102
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins. Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders. Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency. Diagnosing acquired deficiencies Treating Inherited and Acquired Immunodeficiency	979899100101102102102
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins. Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders. Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency Diagnosing acquired deficiencies Treating Inherited and Acquired Immunodeficiency Conditions	979899100101102102102104105106
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins. Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders. Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency. Diagnosing acquired deficiencies Treating Inherited and Acquired Immunodeficiency Conditions Nutrition and stress management	979899100101102102102104105106
CHAPTER 6:	Immune System Slows Down Uncovering Inherited Immunodeficiency Disorders B cell immunodeficiency syndromes T cell immunodeficiency syndromes Combined B and T cell deficiency Problems with phagocytosis Problems with complement proteins Testing for inherited deficiencies Exposing Acquired Immunodeficiency Disorders Identifying the main culprits leading to deficiency Diagnosing acquired deficiencies Treating Inherited and Acquired Immunodeficiency Conditions Nutrition and stress management Antibiotics, antifungals, antivirals	979899100101102102104105106106

CHAPTER 7:	Uncovering the Influence of Immunity	
	in Other Conditions	
	Chronic Inflammation: From Achy Joints to Alzheimer's	
	The inflammatory process	
	Heart disease	
	Diabetes	
	Alzheimer's disease	
	Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS), or Leaky Gut Syndrome	
	Diagnosing IBS	
	Treating IBS	
	Acne and Chronic Skin Conditions	
	Acne	117
	Psoriasis	
	Eczema	
	Contact dermatitis	120
DART:	B: LAYING THE GROUNDWORK FOR SUPER	
	NITY: NUTRITION, LIFESTYLE, AND DETOX	122
IIVIIVIO	MITT. NOTRITION, LIFESTILE, AND DETOX	123
CHAPTER 8:	Improving Your Immunity with Nutrition	125
	Calling in Nutrition's Big Guns	
	Powerful protein: Making you healthy (and thin!)	
	Healthy fats: Protecting your body	
	Carbs your body will love: Getting your charge back	133
	Building Your Plate for Everyday Wellness and Robust Immunity	127
	Finding the right portion sizes	
	Satisfying your thirst	
	Staying Away from Foods on the Proceed-with-Caution List	
	Unhealthy grains	
	Beans and legumes	
	Dairy and stuff	
	Avoiding Certain Foods at All Cost	
	"Frankenfoods"	
	Sneaky food additives	147
	Sugar: The monkey on your back	149
	Having to Say Goodbye to Foods You Love, or Do You?	
	Salt: Friend or foe?	
	Are desserts on the menu?	
	How about happy hour?	
	Restarting Your Health and Nutrition with the "Boosting 30"	154

CHAPTER 9:	Tapping the Immune Properties of Superfoods	155
	Getting the Scoop on Superfoods	
	Separating superfoods from the rest of the pack	
	Tacking on a superfood bonus: Weight loss	
	Robust, Everyday Superfoods with the "It" Factor	
	Dark chocolate	
	Fruits	161
	Nuts and seeds	164
	Spices and herbs	166
	Teas	
	Vegetables	169
CHAPTER 10	Getting an Extra Kick from Supplements	
	and Herbs	
	Adding Supplements for Better Health	
	Fish oil	
	Magnesium	
	Probiotics	
	Vitamin C	
	Vitamin D3	
	Zinc	
	Mixing in Medicinal Herbs	
	Aloe vera	
	Astragalus Cat's-claw	
	Echinacea	
	Elderberry	
	Ginseng	
	Hyssop	
	Licorice root	
	Nettle	
	St John's wort	
	Seeking Out a Few Exotic Superfoods	
	Acai berries	
	Goji berries	187
	Sea vegetables	188
CHAPTER 11	Living an Immunity-Friendly Lifestyle	191
	Getting More from Your Daily Routine	
	Sleep	
	Sunshine	
	Water	
	Eversion	201

Exploring Ways to Reduce Stress	203
Massage	203
Yoga and meditation	204
The HeartMath solution	205
Chiropractic	206
Naturopathy	
Energy work	209
CHAPTER 12: Exploring Detoxification to Refresh	
Your Immunity	211
Deciding to Detox	212
What is a detox, and is it right for you?	212
Weighing the pros and cons of detoxing	212
Meeting the Key Players in Detoxification	214
Our Immune-Boosting Detox Strategy	217
Setting yourself up for detoxing success	
Detoxing with supplement powder and medical foods	219
Detoxing with foods and drinks alone	
Adding supplements to support detoxification	
Detoxifying Your Environment	
Starting with self-care products	
Improving your surroundings at home and work	223
PART 4: COOKING UP RECIPES FOR	
IMMUNITY AND WELLNESS	225
Diagning and Stocking an	
CHAPTER 13: Planning and Stocking an	
Immunity-Friendly Kitchen	
Getting Started: Cleaning Out Your Kitchen	
Restocking Your Kitchen for a Boosting Future	
Picking proteins your body will love	
Choosing produce with boosting power	
Selecting fabulous fats for a nourishing kitchen	
Adding in kitchen staples for eating well	
Shopping for Healthy Foods	
Getting food straight from the farm	
Exploring traditional grocers and health food stores	
Buying organic: Do's and don'ts	
Preparing Food the Right Way for Wellness	
Baking	
Sautéing and stir-frying	
Roasting	
Slow cooking	

	Steaming.241Poaching.241Batch cooking.241Skipping the grill.242
in	reakfasts to Start Your Day a A Healthy Way243 sinking beyond Traditional Breakfast Foods244
	unches for a Midday Energy Burst251 ying Goodbye to the Midday Slump251
St Ma	inners and Side Dishes to trengthen Your System
H	Dups, Salads, and Sauces for Deep ealing and Cleansing 275 king Charge of Your Health by Cooking for Yourself 276
	esserts and Snacks to Keep You on Track
	onifying Teas and Sensational Smoothies
PART 5: 1	THE PART OF TENS313
Wa Cle Air Ge Ta Ea Ta Su Ta	en Tips to Avoid Colds and Flu ash Your Hands ean Your Phones and Keyboards r Out Your Workspace at a Good Night's Sleep ke a Walk at an Orange Every Day be Oscillococcinum applement with Herbal Andrographis by Your Vitamin D Intake 315 315 316 317 318 318 319
B o Br	en Breathing Exercises for a etter Immune System

	Rhythmic Breathing. Ujjayi Breath Breath of Fire Lion's Breath. Alternate Nostril Breathing Yogi Nerve Revitalizing Breath. Sitali Breath Breath Retention	.324 .324 .325 .326 .327
CHAPTER 22:	Ten Boosting Exercises You Can Do Anywhere Thymus Reset. K-27 Energy Buttons Spleen Thump	.332 .333
	Chair Pose. Bound Bridge. Rebounding. Walking. Shaking the Tree Ragdoll Twist	.335 .336 .337 .338 .339
CHAPTER 23:	Cross-Crawl Pattern Ten Ways to Get Your Family on the Immunity Bandwagon	.340
	Be a Strong Leader Teach Kids the "Why" of Healthy Living Recognize Junk Food Marketing Make Healthier Eating Fun Change Breakfast First Set Some Dinner Rules Teach Kids the Basics of Building a Healthy Plate Encourage Teamwork in the Kitchen Take Your Family on a Food Field Trip Manage Sweets	.342 .343 .344 .344 .345 .346 .347
APPEN	IDIX: METRIC CONVERSION GUIDE	351
INDEX		355

Introduction

ou're probably familiar with the many diet plans, books, infomercials, and products on the market that have one goal in mind: to get you skinnier. Okay, fair. But what if you could get the same results by just getting healthy and staying healthy? What if you could look better, feel better, and experience fewer cold and flu symptoms or other illnesses just by making simple diet and lifestyle changes that boost your immunity? The simple truth is that when you boost your immunity, you can have it all.

When you begin to eat and live in a way that boosts your immunity, you naturally remove inflammatory foods as well as the foods that don't move you toward health. You begin eating true *superfoods* — foods rich in vitamins, minerals, and antioxidant power that make you feel better than you may have in years. What overall effect does boosting your immunity have in your life? You'll have reduced risk of heart disease, diabetes, cancers, colds, flus, and other illnesses. You'll have more energy, look younger, lose weight, get stronger, and sleep more soundly.

The immune-boosting plan isn't a diet in the traditional sense, although we do ask you to give up certain foods — sometimes just for a short time and, in some cases, indefinitely. Although that may sound intimidating, this book shows you the reasons you should avoid certain foods for optimal health. We also provide plenty of practical tips to make the transition as easy as possible for you and your family. From how to stock your kitchen cupboards to how to stay healthy while you travel, from reversing disease to exercising wisely, you'll find everything you need to adopt an immune-boosting lifestyle.

About This Book

Embracing a healthier paradigm may feel overwhelming at first, but *Boosting Your Immunity For Dummies* helps you understand the benefits of living an immune-boosting life. In this book, we explain the underlying science of how the immune system works and define all its parts and functions. We pay special attention to what happens when your immune system gets off track and what you can do about it.

We break down the patterns of an immune-boosting lifestyle so you know exactly where to begin, and we help you understand just what to include in your diet to reach your goals. Whether you're trying to get healthy, stay healthy, lose weight, reverse a medical condition, fight aging, or improve your energy, you'll find the information you need to succeed. We also explain the nutritional aspects of the immune-boosting lifestyle and answer your questions about superfoods, herbs, vitamins, minerals, supplements, and more.

Because boosting your immunity goes beyond the food that you put on your plate, we also explore how you can improve your sleep, enhance your cells through detoxing, and benefit from immune-boosting breathing and moving.

If you're more interested in practical application than scientific theories, we've got you covered there, too, with chapters that outline how to revamp your kitchen for boosting immunity and how to plan and stock your kitchen for the nutritionally superior immune-boosting foods.

And finally, Boosting Your Immunity For Dummies wouldn't be complete without plenty of delicious, satisfying recipes to help you and your family make the transition to living healthier. The recipes will keep you nutritionally fed from breakfast through dinner with healthy snacks in between and even a few dessert recipes for those special occasions when you want something a little sweeter than usual. We also share a lot of easy meal ideas that don't require a recipe at all.

Conventions Used in This Book

We use the following conventions throughout the text to make things consistent and easy to understand:

- >> All web addresses appear in monofont.
- >> When this book was printed, some web addresses may have needed to break across two lines of text. If that happened, rest assured that we didn't put in any extra characters (such as hyphens) to indicate the break. So when using one of these web addresses, just type in exactly what you see in this book, pretending the line break doesn't exist.
- >> We use **boldface** to highlight keywords in bulleted lists and the action parts of numbered steps.

Here are some specific recipe-related conventions that apply throughout the book:

- >> Vegetarian recipes are marked with a tomato in the Recipes in This Chapter list.
- >> Temperatures are all given in degrees Fahrenheit. (If you prefer working in the metric system, turn to the appendix for help converting temperatures to Celsius.)
- >> All eggs are large, unless noted otherwise.

What You're Not to Read

We've written this book so you can find information easily and quickly. Each chapter covers one aspect of boosting immunity and includes specific details and practical tips to help you understand how to incorporate it into your new lifestyle. If you don't have the time (or the desire) to read every word, you can skim the text in the shaded sidebars. They provide interesting but not essential anecdotes and additional information.

Foolish Assumptions

As we wrote this book, we made the following assumptions about you:

- >> You want to build your immune system to experience fewer colds, flus, and other illnesses or to manage some type of medical condition, lose weight, or fight aging, and you know that to achieve these goals, boosting your immunity makes sense.
- >> You understand how to eat and live healthy, and you want your loved ones to enjoy a healthy, immune-boosting lifestyle, too.
- >> You want to stop eating processed and unhealthy foods to feel younger, healthier, more vibrant, and happier.
- >> You're interested in discovering how food affects you physically and mentally and how to live a healthier lifestyle but don't want to get bogged down in too much scientific detail.

- You're open to the idea of making lifestyle changes avoiding certain foods, making sleep a priority, and adopting healthy principles to enhance your quality of life.
- >> You want to gain a better understanding of how the immune system works and what you can do if your immune system isn't functioning properly.

How This Book Is Organized

We've divided this book into five parts to make the different topics more manageable and easier to digest. Each part deals with certain aspects of boosting immunity and discusses the relevant topics.

Part 1: Getting to Know Your Immune System

If you're interested in starting with the basics, this part is for you. The first chapter gives a broad overview of living an immune-boosting lifestyle, pointing out all the ways your decisions impact your immune system. In this part, we explain the immune system in detail, from the many organs involved to the different cells and how they interact. If you're a bit of a science geek, this is the place for you.

Part 2: What Happens When Your Immune System Gets Off Track

Although most of the time the immune system functions well, other times it doesn't. If things go haywire, some disease states can develop. This part addresses the *hows* and *whys* of specific conditions, such as allergies, autoimmune conditions, and cancer, as well as immune-boosting suggestions specific to each. We also discuss immune deficiency states, both inherited and acquired, along with suggestions that help modify immune activity.

Also in this part, we discuss the impact of other medical conditions on the immune system and the immune system's impact on other medical conditions, showing you how interconnected your overall health is to your immune system.

Part 3: Laying the Groundwork for Super Immunity: Nutrition, Lifestyle, and Detox

In these chapters, you find out why eating immune-boosting foods is the best choice for you and your family and how they can get you well and keep you well. Tapping into the immune properties of superfoods is one of the most amazing tools you can use to improve your health. Packed with nutrients, they provide you with the deepest nutrition. However, living an immune-boosting lifestyle goes beyond food. Lifestyle patterns also make a difference, and the chapters in this part explore the principles of living an immune-friendly lifestyle. We also show how detoxing can work its magic in people who need a cellular cleanse.

Part 4: Cooking Up Recipes for Immunity and Wellness

Getting reacquainted with your kitchen can be a gift for you and your family. We live in a busy world filled with responsibility, and this section helps you overcome the obstacle of feeling overwhelmed when you're ready to jump back into your kitchen. Chapter 13 provides tips on planning and stocking your kitchen. Chapters 14 through 19 include a collection of delicious, comforting recipes to fill every meal (and your stomach) with healthy, energizing foods. You'll find recipes for easy breakfasts, lunches, dinners, side dishes, soups, salads, desserts, teas, and smoothies that will improve your health, energize your body, and help you live longer and stronger.

Part 5: The Part of Tens

Like all *For Dummies* books, this one includes the fun and exciting Part of Tens. Here, we list ten tips to avoid coming down with a cold or flu, ten ways to improve your breathing for a better immune system, ten exercises you can do anywhere, and finally ten ways to help your family adapt the immune-boosting lifestyle.

Icons Used in This Book

To make this book easier to navigate, we include the following icons to help you find key information about boosting your immunity.



This icon indicates practical information that can help you in your quest for improved health or in your progress in adopting an immune-boosting lifestyle.

TH



When you see this icon, you know that the information that follows is important enough to read twice!

REMEMBE



This icon highlights information that could be detrimental to your success if you ignore it. We don't use this one much, so pay attention when we do.



This icon highlights interesting but optional information that's of a more scientific nature for those who want a little deeper perspective.

Where to Go from Here

This book is organized to be read in the way that makes the most sense to you, so feel free to jump around to the information that's most relevant to you right now. You can use the table of contents to find the broad categories of subjects or use the index to look up specific information.

Do you want to know more about the foods to boost immunity? You can get started in Chapters 8 and 9. Are you ready to clean out your kitchen? Turn to Chapter 13. Want to know about the immune-boosting supplements and herbs? Check out Chapter 10, which provides an in-depth look at the nutritional underpinnings of supplementation. If you want to understand how your immune system works, jump right into Chapters 1 and 2, or if you want to understand how to deal with an overactive immune system, go to Chapter 4. If it's the recipes that interest you, Chapters 14 through 19 are for you.

And if you're not sure where to begin, read Part 1. It gives you the basic information you need to understand why and how boosting your immunity can help you improve your health and quality of life.

Getting to Know Your Immune System

IN THIS PART . . .

The pursuit of good health ultimately leads to the pursuit of a healthy immune system. This part makes clear all the ways your immune system affects your life as well as all the ways your day-to-day choices affect your immune system. The chapters in this part take you through the nitty-gritty details of the immune system and how the organs and cells interact so you understand what you can do to improve your immunity. Also, you come to understand all the ways your system can go wrong, so you can set it right again.

- » Boosting your immunity to keep you well
- » Making changes for a healthier lifestyle
- » Improving the way you look and feel

Chapter **1**

Immunity: Your Ticket to a Stronger, Longer, and Healthier Life

verything rises and falls on your immune system. When your immune system is strong, you avoid the pitfalls of disease, and your body expresses vitality and health. Your immune system is your shield — your most powerful protector.

Having your immune system operate at its best should be central in your life and the focus of your nutritional and lifestyle patterns. The secret to success is discovering practical tools and strategies to strengthen your immune system so it helps keep you healthy, lean, strong, and ageless.

Super Immunity 101

What does it mean to have *super immunity*? Super immunity is when your body's greatest protector — its immune system — is working to the best of its ability to get and keep you well. Having your cells express their super immunity potential can even save your life. Your immune system casts a healing shield over you, protecting you from the simplest of challenges, like the common cold, to the most threatening, like cancer.

We're passionate about bringing the concept of immune boosting to the world because we've seen tremendous value in developing tools and healthy lifestyle practices that keep people in this super immune-healing cocoon. In the following sections, we introduce you to the concept of super immunity and how it can affect nearly every area of your life.

Starting with your immune system

No matter what your goals are — whether they're to get well, stay well, lose weight, or fight aging — it all starts with creating the healthiest cells possible. Discovering the tools to help your body create these healthy cells may be one of the most important things you do for yourself.

Life can be complicated. It can be hectic, busy, and exhausting to you and your body. These things are just a few of the challenges your immune system faces. No one enjoys being stuck in bed with frequent colds, yet many adults in the United States are about two to four times per year. Simple infections can turn life threatening, and the flu can turn into a more serious and prolonged illness. People are concerned about a worldwide spread of viral illnesses, and cancers are at an all-time high (men have a 44 percent chance of getting an invasive cancer, and women, about 37 percent).



Here's the good news: Research shows that you can make a difference in protecting yourself from these illnesses. Understanding how to eat and live better helps you strengthen your body's greatest protector so it knocks out disease and keeps you well before anything serious or life threatening has a chance to take hold. Of course, you do risk some side effects of having a strong and efficient immune system — you'll look and feel amazing!

Boosting your immunity with nutritional excellence

When you start eating and living for vibrant health, it shows. You have less down time, and you enjoy life on an entirely different level. If you're suffering, take

comfort in knowing that eating your way to a stronger immune system will help you a great deal, and getting well really does start with nutritional excellence. Chapters 8 and 9 explain what it means to eat foods with superior nutrition.



Nutritional excellence happens when you eat foods with *a high nutrient density*, which means foods that have a lot of nutrients in relation to the amount of calories they contain. So with each bite, you're doing something positive to your body and strengthening that healing shield.

Unfortunately, the average American takes in about 60 percent of his calories from *low nutrient density foods* — processed foods that have added flavors, colors, sweeteners, rancid oils, and are a gluten-filled, flour-filled dietary mess. When you eat these foods, every bite weakens your healing shield and opens yourself up to disease and premature aging.

Considering super immunity and modern medicine

According to former Surgeon General of the United States Dr. Richard Carmona, "Because of the increasing rates of obesity, unhealthy eating habits, and physical inactivity, we may see the first generation to be less healthy and have a shorter life expectancy than their parents." That is an unbelievable statement — that this generation will be the first to *not* outlive their parents! This means that with all the drugs, surgeries, and advancement in medicine, we're not getting any better. And now, the problem has trickled down to children.

Drugs were never designed to get you healthier. They were designed to get you out of crisis mode. Even though people have been marketed to think that more medical care means a longer, healthier life, that simply isn't the truth. If you want health, that job is up to you. No shortcut or magic pill can do this for you. It's about the lifestyle you choose to live.

Another problem with looking to modern medicine to get well and stay well is that taking medications does nothing to change behavior. In fact, it's your behaviors or patterns every day that may be leading to you needing the medication in the first place. Relying on medication to make you feel better allows you to continue on the path you're on, no matter how destructive it may be to your cells and overall health. Don't let modern medicine be your permission for leading a life that isn't serving you.

IMMUNE-BOOSTING SUCCESS STORY: DREW

Meet Drew, 56, horticulturist, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania:

Drew is the perfect example of someone who was a participant in his healing, which lead to astonishing results. Drew's blood sugars were creeping up to alarming levels. He and his wife decided to take action and wanted to use effective strategies that were as close to natural as possible. They transitioned their kitchen into healthy, immune-boosting foods with lean meats, low-starch carbohydrates, some fruits, and healthy fats. Much to their surprise, they really enjoyed these foods and found the transition easy with so many great recipes. Drew's blood sugars started at 350 and, in just six months' time, have plummeted to the normal range of 90 to 110. Drew and his wife were even more shocked when they found his hemoglobin A1c (average blood sugars over the previous two to three months) went from 13.8 down to an astounding 6.6! Drew feels better than ever. Every spring, he'd get sick like clockwork, but that's a thing of the past. He no longer gets sick whatsoever. Through time, he has experienced deep healing and is noticing improvements in all areas of his life.



You have to be a participant in your healing to get results. Modern medicine isn't the answer. Always try to get the best results in your life; the *recipient* of healthcare has to be the *participant* as well.

Living Longer, Stronger, and Healthier

It almost sounds too good to be true, but, yes, you can live longer, stronger, and healthier when you discover how to eat and live in a way that boosts your immunity. When you stop poisoning your cells with unhealthy foods, you get rid of toxins and anything that your body can't use or eliminate. How quickly something leaves your body through your bowels says a lot about the health of that food. Certain foods cleanse you while others clog you. Eating foods that cleanse you keep you young, healthy, and beautiful, as you find out in the following sections.



When you balance your plate with lean, healthy meats, seafood, vegetables, fruits, nuts, seeds, and naturally occurring healthy fats, like the ones shown in Figure 1-1, and cut down your sugar intake, you get stronger, leaner, and healthier. We discuss the power of immune-boosting foods in Chapters 8 and 9.